IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RANDY VALLI

Appellant

VS.

FRANKIE VALLI

Respondent

SUPREME COURT

Court of Appeal Second Appellate District Case No.: B222435

OCT 21 7011

Frederick's Laboration Calls

Superior Court County of Los Angeles Case No.: BD 414038

Cepuly

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Peter Walzer, Esq. Christopher C. Melcher, Esq. Walzer & Melcher, LLP SBNs: 101477 and 170547 21700 Oxnard Street, Suite 2080

Woodland Hills, CA 91367

Tel: (818) 591-3700 Fax: (818) 591-3774 Garrett C. Dailey Attorney at Law SBN: 76180

2915 McCluare Street
Oakland, California 94609

Tel: (510) 465-3920 Fax: (510) 465-7348

Attorneys for Respondent FRANKIE VALLI

INTRODUCTION

This is a marital dissolution action between Frankie and Randy Valli. At trial, the Los Angeles County Superior Court determined that a \$3.75 million life insurance policy with a cash value of \$365,032 was community property, and awarded the policy to Frankie at that value. The court found that the policy was community property because the policy was acquired during marriage and the premiums were paid with community funds. Randy appealed, arguing that the policy was her separate property because she had been named the owner of the policy.

During marriage, Randy suggested to Frankie that they obtain the policy when he was in the hospital suffering from a heart condition. Neither party presented evidence, other than the fact that Randy was named the owner of the policy, that Frankie intended to make a gift of either the policy itself or its cash value which accumulated rapidly during marriage. The only evidence presented about the acquisition of the policy was that Frankie acted on Randy's suggestion to purchase life insurance; he had no plans on separating from her; and wanted to take care of her and their children if he were to die.

The Court of Appeal reversed the Superior Court on a straight presumptionof-title rationale. Its holdings, or the implications of them, are:

- Because Randy was named the owner of the policy, Frankie had the burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that she was not the sole owner of the policy.
- Because the policy was originally acquired in Randy's name alone, the community property presumption did not apply.
- Because the parties acquired the policy from a third party (the insurance company), Randy owed no fiduciary duty to Frankie in connection with the transaction.
- Because the policy was acquired from a third party, the protections of Family Code section 852 did not apply.
- The policy's substantial cash value was Randy's separate property and all of the premium payments made with community funds during marriage, after the policy had been acquired, were deemed to be gifts to her.
- The presumption of undue influence did not arise, even though Randy would receive a substantial asset which was acquired with community funds without payment of any consideration to Frankie.
- Frankie had the burden of proving that Randy acquired title to the policy by undue influence.

The opinion resulted from confusion as to the relationship between the Evidence Code section 662 title presumption and the presumption that property acquired during marriage is community property. The court did not apply the principle that, if a transaction involving community property unfairly benefits one spouse, that spouse has a three-pronged burden of rebutting the presumption of undue influence.

The Opinion was incorrectly decided and should be reversed. Likewise, the Opinion relied upon the erroneous holdings in *Marriage of Brooks & Robinson* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 176, which should be examined and disapproved.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Eighteen months before the parties separated, Frankie acquired the \$3.75 million life insurance policy insuring his life.⁷ Randy testified that she suggested getting a policy on Frankie's life while he was in the hospital with heart problems, and they agreed to obtain a life insurance policy "to protect [her] future." She testified that Frankie told her that he was "going to make [her] the owner."

When Frankie obtained the policy, he had no plans to separate from Randy.¹⁰ He had medical problems and wanted to be certain that his family would be taken care of and his children could go to college.¹¹ The reason they purchased the policy was to provide financial security for the family when Frankie died.¹² As Randy put

⁷ RT 181:15-20; RT 244:15-17 & 293:4-11; JA 20-24 & 56:7-10.

⁸ RT 728:18-22 & 729:4-9.

⁹ RT 728:23-28.

¹⁰ RT 181:21-23.

¹¹ RT 181:24-182:2.

¹² JA 56:9-10.

it: "[The purpose was] to prepare for my future in case something did happen to Frankie." ¹³

There was no evidence of any agreement or understanding as to the policy's character. The cash value of the policy was \$365,032.¹⁴ Randy was named "the owner." Randy paid no consideration to Frankie to be listed as the owner of the policy.¹⁶

Barry Siegel has been the business manager for Frankie Valli and The Four Seasons musical group since 1994.¹⁷ His office made the premium payments on the policy. Between March 7, 2003, when the first premium payment was made and December 3, 2008, the time of trial, a total of \$512,675.75 in payments were made on it.¹⁸ Frankie paid them all.¹⁹

The parties offered little testimony about the policy. Frankie testified that he did not want Randy to be the beneficiary of a policy on his life after separation because he wanted the death benefits to go to his children.²⁰ He testified that he

¹³ RT 729:4-9.

¹⁴ RT 245:12-18.

¹⁵ RT 247:24-248:1.

¹⁶ RT 450:10-15.

¹⁷ RT 289:10-25.

¹⁸ RT 291:5-292:5, 293:9-12; Trial Exhibit 52 [JA 155-158].

¹⁹ RT 188:13-20.

²⁰ RT 188:3-12.

had established a child support trust to secure his child support obligation.²¹ He was concerned about the estate taxes his children will have to pay upon his death. He would like his children to be able to keep the Four Seasons music catalog intact as it will be an ongoing source of income for them. The insurance that he obtained was part of the plan to help keep the catalog in the family after his death.²²

At one point during the trial, the court asked if everyone agreed that the policy was community property.²³ Randy's attorney replied: "depending on how the evidence goes, it may be separate property, depending on the reasons why – that he acquired the policy and put her name on it."²⁴

Randy offered no evidence as to why she was listed as the owner rather than just the beneficiary. She offered no testimony of any substance as to their discussions, her actions, or anything related to the acquisition beyond that it was a joint decision and that: "[The purpose for obtaining the policy was] to [protect/prepare for] my future in case something did happen to Frankie." She also presented no evidence that Frankie understood that, by naming her the policy owner, he was making a gift to her of the policy's cash value and, more

²¹ RT 866.

²² RT 184:28-185:11.

²³ RT 450:22-451:3.

²⁴ RT 451:4-8.

²⁵ RT 728:5-729:9.

importantly, the right to assign the \$3.75 million benefit that would be generated on his death.

The trial court applied the community property presumption and held that the policy was a community asset, awarded it to Frankie and ordered him to equalize the division of this asset by paying Randy for one-half of its cash value. The Court of Appeal reversed on a straight presumption-of-title analysis.

ARGUMENT

I.
EVIDENCE CODE SECTION 662 SHOULD HAVE NO ROLE IN
CHARACTERIZING COMMUNITY PROPERTY

Title alone does not trump the community property presumption.

A. <u>Dueling Presumptions</u>:

The acquisition of an asset during marriage with community monies in the name of one of the spouses immediately invokes two competing presumptions. The first presumption is stated in Family Code section 760:

"Except as otherwise provided by statute, all property, real or personal, wherever situated, acquired by a married person during the marriage while domiciled in this state is community property."

And, Evidence Code section 662:

"The owner of the legal title to property is presumed to be the owner of the full beneficial title. This presumption may be rebutted only by clear and convincing proof."

Which should control? Should Randy be presumed to hold the policy on behalf of the marital partnership as community property under section 760 or on behalf of herself as separate property under section 662?

B. <u>Rules of Statutory Interpretation</u>: It is black letter law that when two presumptions conflict, the more specific one controls. Code of Civil Procedure section 1859 states:

"THE INTENTION OF THE LEGISLATURE OR PARTIES. In the construction of a statute the intention of the Legislature, and in the construction of the instrument the intention of the parties, is to be pursued, if possible; and when a general and particular provision are inconsistent, the latter is paramount to the former. So a particular intent will control a general one that is inconsistent with it."

In Rose v. State (1942) 19 Cal.2d 713, 723-724, the rule was stated as follows:

"It is well settled ... that a general provision is controlled by one that is special, the latter being treated as an exception to the former. A specific provision relating to a particular subject will govern in respect to that subject, as against a general provision, although the latter, standing alone, would be broad enough to include the subject to which the more particular provision relates."²⁶

²⁶ Restated in *Rader v. Thrasher* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 244, 252.

This rule of statutory construction was discussed in an analogous family law context in *Marriage of Delaney*²⁷ where the issue was the conflict between the statutory presumption of title and the common law presumption of undue influence when one spouse benefits from a marital transaction. In *Delaney*, the husband, who suffered from learning disabilities, signed a quitclaim deed conveying his separate property residence to himself and his wife as joint tenants. In the divorce, the wife argued that, pursuant to Evidence Code section 662, the husband had to overcome the presumption of title by clear and convincing evidence. The Court of Appeal disagreed, noting that there was a clear conflict between that statute and the common law presumption of undue influence embodied in Family Code section 721 resulting from a marital transaction benefitting one of the parties.

In resolving the conflict between these two statutes, the Court of Appeal looked to the rule that: "where two presumptions are in conflict, the more specific presumption applicable in particular cases must control over the more general presumption arising under ordinary circumstances" and held "the presumption based on the confidential fiduciary relationship between spouses must prevail over the presumption based on record title." 29

²⁷ In re Marriage of Delaney (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 991.

²⁸ Id. at p. 997; see also *McKay v. McKay* (1921) 184 Cal. 742, 746-747.

²⁹ In re Marriage of Delaney, supra, 111 Cal.App.4th at p. 997.

Similarly, in *Marriage of Fossum*, the Court stated: "the form of title presumption simply does not apply in cases in which it conflicts with the presumption that one spouse has exerted undue influence over the other."³⁰

The same is true for Family Code section 760. The conflicting presumption of title is a general presumption that applies in a wide variety of contexts. Its primary purpose is the enhancement of stability of titles and the protection of *bona fide* purchasers for value.³¹

Family Code section 760's community property presumption is far more specific because it applies only in the unique circumstances of a marital relationship.³² Thus, when the two presumptions are in conflict, as they inevitably will be in a marital context, the community property presumption should prevail over the title presumption.

³⁰ In re Marriage of Fossum, supra, 192 Cal.App.4th at p. 345

³¹ In re Marriage of Haines (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 277, 294; In re Marriage of Brooks & Robinson, supra, 169 Cal.App.4th at p. 185.

³² In re Marriage of Haines, supra, 33 Cal.App.4th at pp. 287-288.

C. The Title Presumption Should Not be Used to Characterize Marital Property: 33

Relying on record title to determine the character of marital property invariably shifts the burden of proof to the non-titled spouse and turns the presumption of community property upside down. If this were the law, a spouse could avoid our community property laws by having an asset titled in his or her name.

The most basic rule of our community property system is that all property acquired during marriage is community property unless it comes within a specific exception;³⁴ the major exceptions to the basic community property rule are those relating to separate property.³⁵ This is embodied in Family Code section 760 which provides:

"Except as otherwise provided by statute, all property, real or personal, wherever situated, acquired by a married person during the marriage while domiciled in this state is community property." ³⁶

³⁶ Emphasis added.

³³ Adopting the argument of an amicus letter written in support of review by Kim Cheatum, CFLS, San Diego.

³⁴ Meyer v. Kinzer and Wife (1859) 12 Cal. 247, 251-252; In re Marriage of Baragry (1977) 73 Cal.App.3d 444, 448.

³⁵ In re Marriage of Haines, supra, 33 Cal.App.4th at p. 289.

The very language of this statute inevitably and irremediably conflicts with the common law presumption of title.

- 1. <u>"All Property" Means Untitled and Titled Property In Either</u>

 Party's Name: "All property" is all-inclusive, and includes property by which ownership is evidenced by title (e.g., real estate) and property for which there is no title (e.g., personal property). Moreover, a "married person" is in the singular. Hence, the community property presumption applies to the universe of all property, both untitled and titled, acquired during marriage by one spouse or both spouses.
- 2. "During Marriage" Means "Time" of Acquisition (Not Evidence of Title) Triggers the Community Property Presumption: Perhaps the most basic characterization factor is the time when property is acquired in relation to the parties' marital status.³⁷ "The character of property as separate or community is determined at the time of its acquisition." (See v. See (1966) 64 Cal.2d 778, 783.)

"The presumption, therefore, attending the possession of property by either, is that it belongs to the community; exceptions to the rule must be proved." (Meyer v. Kinzer, supra, 12 Cal. at p. 252.) As to these exceptions, "[t]he burden of proof must rest with the claimant of the separate estate. Any other rule would lead to infinite embarrassment, confusion and fraud." (Id. at pp. 253-254.) If "time" is critical, it follows that "title" is not.

³⁷ In re Marriage of Haines, supra, 33 Cal.App.4th at 291.

3. "Title" In Either Party's Name Is Irrelevant: "The law ... recognizes a partnership between the husband and wife as to the property acquired during marriage." (Packard v. Arellanes (1861) 17 Cal. 525, 537.) And either partner has management authority over partnership (or community) property, both personal (Family Code, section 1100, subd. (a)) and real (Family Code, section 1102, subd. (a)). Thus, each partner stands in a representative relationship to the marital partnership.

"To the community all acquisitions by either, whether made jointly or separately, belong. *No form of transfer* or mere intent of parties *can overcome this positive rule of law." (Meyer v. Kinzer, supra,* 12 Cal. at p. 251 [emphasis added].)

"The [community property presumption] prescribes the effect of the acquisition of property by either spouse, and its operation cannot be defeated or evaded by the form of the conveyance, or the intention of the husband, in taking it in the name of his wife. In every form the community character of the property continues." (*Id.* at p. 255.) "Such status [of property acquired during marriage as community or separate] is not dependent on the form in which title is taken." (*In re Marriage of Buol* (1985) 39 Ca1.3d 751, 757.)

Just as *Marriage of Haines* decreed that Evidence Code section 662 has no applicability "where there is a conflict between the common law presumption in favor of title as codified in section 662 and the presumption that a husband and

wife must deal fairly with each other," this Court should decree that the title presumption has no applicability where it conflicts with the fundamental community property presumption.

D. <u>There Is No Presumption Stemming From Property Acquired By a</u>

Married Person in His or Her Own Name During Marriage: ³⁸ The Family Code

does contain a presumption of title that aids the community property presumption,

namely Family Code section 2581:

"For the purpose of division of property on dissolution of marriage or legal separation of the parties, property acquired by the parties during marriage in joint form, including property held in tenancy in common, joint tenancy, or tenancy by the entirety, or as community property, is presumed to be community property. This presumption is a presumption affecting the burden of proof and may be rebutted by either of the following:

- "(a) A clear statement in the deed or other documentary evidence of title by which the property is acquired that the property is separate property and not community property.
- "(b) Proof that the parties have made a written agreement that the property is separate property."

The joint title presumption is consistent with the community property presumption. Property acquired by the parties in joint title is presumptively community property under Family Code section 760 because the property was

³⁸ Adopting the arguments of Professor Charlotte K. Goldberg, Loyola Law School, Los Angeles.

acquired during marriage. Section 2581 strengthens that presumption by requiring written evidence to overcome it.

There used to be a separate property presumption regarding property titled in a wife's name. That was before there was "equal management and control" of community property. At that time, when a husband was the sole manager of community funds, there was a presumption that when he took community funds and acquired property and put the title in his wife's name, it was presumed to be her *separate* property. However, that presumption was abolished as of January 1, 1975, when equal management and control of community property went into effect. Since then, title in the husband's name or the wife's name is treated the same way: an acquisition in one spouse's name is presumed to be community property, under the general community property presumption. 40

Nevertheless, both *Marriage of Brooks & Robinson* and the Court of Appeal in this case have attempted to resurrect the presumption of sole title.

E. No Societal or Policy Interest Is Advanced by Permitting Evid. Code §662 To Trump Fam. Code §760: In concluding that the presumption of title could never be applied where it conflicted with the presumption of undue influence

³⁹ Family Code §803.

⁴⁰ In re Marriage of Dekker (1993) 17 Cal. App. 4th 842, 848, n.8 [Dictum].

resulting from a transaction benefiting one spouse, *Marriage of Haines* relied heavily on the unique nature of the marital relationship and the historical and statutory protections afforded to it:

"It is the public policy of this state 'to foster and promote the institution of marriage.' (*Marvin v. Marvin* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 660, 683.) '[T]he structure of society itself largely depends upon the institution of marriage" (Id. at p. 684.)"⁴¹

In part because of this, we have the fundamental presumption that property acquired during marriage by either spouse other than by gift or inheritance is community property unless traceable to a separate property source. The burden of proof to rebut this presumption is on the party contesting community property status.⁴² This was explained in *Marriage of Baragry*, as follows:

"Property acquired during a legal marriage is strongly presumed to be community property. [Citations.] That presumption is fundamental to the community property system [citation], and stems from Mexican-Spanish law which likens the marital community to a partnership. Each partner contributes services of value to the whole, and with certain limitations and exceptions both share equally in the profits."

What societal policy is advanced by applying the presumption of title to the characterization and division of marital property? The answer is none. Quoting the Law Revision Comment to section 662, *Marriage of Haines* stated:

⁴¹ In re Marriage of Haines, supra, 33 Cal.App.4th at p. 287.

⁴² In re Marriage of Mix (1975) 14 Cal.3d 604, 611-612.

⁴³ In re Marriage of Baragry (1977) 73 Cal.App.3d 444, 448.

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