Supreme Court No. S193990

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA COURT OF THE STATE OF THE STATE

NOV 21 2011 ·
Frederick K. Ohlrieh Glark

FRANKIE VALLI,

Petitioner and Respondent,

VS.

RANDY VALLI,

Respondent and Appellant.

Court of Appeal Second Appellate District Case No.: B222435

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BD 414 038

APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAFFE AND CLEMENS Bruce A. Clemens (SBN 60813) William S. Ryden (SBN 92895) Nancy Braden-Parker (SBN 207655) 433 North Camden Drive Suite 1000 Beverly Hills, California 90210 (310) 550-7477

Attorneys for Appellant RANDY VALLI

Supreme Court No. S193990

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

ARGUMENT

- I. NOTWITHSTANDING THE GENERAL COMMUNITY PROPERTY PRESUMPTION, BASED ON THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL, I.E. THAT THE LIFE INSURANCE POLICY WAS TAKEN SOLELY IN RANDY'S NAME DURING MARRIAGE WITH FRANKIE'S CONSENT, THE FORM OF TITLE PRESUMPTION APPLIES, AND THE POLICY PROPERLY IS CHARACTERIZED AS RANDY'S SEPARATE PROPERTY.
- A. Both the Courts and The Legislature Have Determined That Title Presumptions, Including Evidence Code Section 662 and Family Code Section 2581, Apply in Characterizing Property in Marital Dissolutions.

In a unanimous decision, the *Valli* Court of Appeal said: "The property at issue in this matter—the policy—was acquired during marriage with community property funds. Thus, if the general presumption that property acquired during marriage is community property applies, then the policy properly would be characterized as community property. (§ 760; In re Marriage of Bonds, *supra*, 24 Cal.4th at p. 12; see generally Family Law, *supra*, ¶ 8:77, p. 8-19.) Notwithstanding the general community property presumption, however, based on the evidence adduced at trial, the form of title presumption applies, and the policy properly is characterized as Randy's separate property." Slip op. at p. 7.

Frankie contends that the presumption based on form of title should not assist in characterizing disputed marital property. However, whatever Frankie's preferences may be, the current state of the law is that the presumptions of title do apply.

As recognized in *In re Marriage of Brooks* (2008) 169 Cal. App. 4th 176 (*Brooks*), in 1983 the California Law Revision Commission recommended

passage of a statute that provided that the form of title would not create a presumption or inference as to the character of property acquired during marriage by a married person. The Estate Planning, Trust and Probate Section of the Bar objected, and the statute, proposed as prospective Civil Code section 5110.630, was omitted from the proposed legislation. [Assem Bill No. 2274 (1983-1984) Reg. Sess.]; *Brooks*, *supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th at p. 189.

Applicable legal precedents have recognized that title presumptions, including Evidence Code Section 662 and Family Code Section 2581, apply to title acquired by a married person during marriage. The form of title in which property is held is rebuttably presumed to reflect the actual ownership interests in the property. Brooks, supra, at p. 185. "[A]bsent a contrary statute. and unless ownership interests are otherwise established by sufficient proof, record title is usually determinative of characterization." In re Marriage of Haines (1995) 33 Cal. App. 4th 277, 291. This common law presumption is codified in Evidence Code §662. *Id.* When a title presumption applies, it can be overcome only by clear and convincing evidence that the title reflected in the documentary evidence of ownership is not what the parties intended. See e.g., In re Marriage of Fossum (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 336 (Fossum); Brooks, supra, 169 Cal.App.4th at p. 186; Haines, supra, 33 Cal.App.4th at p. 277 (Haines). As discussed later in this brief, this is not the situation where one spouse purchased a titled asset in his or her own name. Here, one spouse solely and intentionally purchased an asset and titled it in the name of the other spouse.

Frankie cites Meyer v. Kinzer and Wife (1859) 12 Cal.247, 251 (Meyer), for the proposition that no form of transfer or mere intent of parties can overcome the rule that all acquisitions made jointly or separately by either spouse while married are community property. Meyer v. Kinzer establishes only that in 1859 when the case was decided, the presumption of title did not apply to a married woman. At that time the rule that all property acquired during the marriage belonged to the "community" essentially meant it belonged to the husband. The "community" was virtually synonymous with the husband who had absolute control over the disposition of community property.

In Meyer, a wife was attempting to assert a claim to proceeds of a note and mortgage transferred by the husband. Wife claimed one half interest in the mortgage debt arguing that since the mortgage was in her name as well as her husband's that half of it was her separate property and therefore husband could not transfer the right to the proceeds without her signature. The Supreme Court held that placing title in the wife's name was a mere change in the form of the common property. It could not affect the control of the husband over the note and mortgage which remained "subject to the disposition of the husband as fully and absolutely as if made to him individually." Meyer, 12 Cal. At p. 255. That situation was remedied by statute in 1872 when the legislature enacted a statutory presumption that property titled in a married woman's name was her separate property. See Fam Code § 803 (former Civil Code § 5110.) With the advent of equal management and control more than 100 years later, the presumption was abolished as unnecessary in 1994. 23 Cal.l.Rev.Comm. Reports 1 (1993.)

The holding in *Meyer* does not support Frankie's request for a new rule that title presumptions are irrelevant in characterizing marital property. The community is no longer synonymous with one spouse. Both spouses have equal right of management and control over the marital property. Under current law, the voluntary act of one spouse placing sole legal and beneficial title in the other spouse can create separate property.

Both the courts and the legislature have declined to establish a rule that the parties cannot voluntarily alter the effect of the community property presumption. Regardless of what Frankie would like it to be, it is the current state of the law that the form of title presumption applies to characterization of property in marital dissolution actions.

If the rule is to be different, that is a job for the Legislature and not the province of this Court.

B. There Are No "Dueling Presumptions" in this Case Because Randy Twice Overcame the General Community Property Presumption With Substantial Evidence that Frankie Intended That She Be Made

Owner and Beneficiary of the Insurance Policy. First, With Title: Second, With Testimony.

1. Presumptions of title are more specific than, and prevail over, the general community property presumption.

Frankie argues that the Court of Appeal opinion resulted from "confusion" as to the relationship between the Evidence Code section 662 title presumption and the Family Code section 760 presumption which provides that all property acquired during marriage is community property. There is nothing in the Opinion to indicate that the Court of Appeal was confused.

The general title presumption recognized in California cases was codified in 1967 by the California Legislature with the enactment of section 662 of the Evidence Code which provides: "The owner of the legal title to property is presumed to be the owner of the full beneficial title. This presumption may be rebutted only by clear and convincing proof.

Family Code section 760 provides that absent a statute providing otherwise, "all property, real or personal, wherever situated, acquired by a married person during the marriage while domiciled in this state is community property."

Contrary to Frankie's protestations, the presumption of title doesn't "trump" the general community property presumption. The presumption of community property is "trumped" by the <u>evidence</u> of the facts necessary to establish the presumption of title—documentary title and consent untainted by breach of fiduciary duty. The presumption of title does not arise until long after the community property presumption has been dispelled by a preponderance of the evidence. The form of title presumption, by its express terms, does not apply until "undisputed legal title" has been established. *Murray v. Murray* (1994) 26 Cal.App. 4th 1062, 1067 (*Murray*).

Frankie insists that the community property presumption is the more specific presumption and that therefore it should prevail when in conflict with a title presumption. Frankie cites no direct authority to support that assertion.

Frankie's argument is contrary to existing precedent and is simply wrong. "Where property status cannot otherwise be proved, characterization is determined by applicable presumptions. One category of presumptions includes those presumptions arising from the form of title, such as the joint title form presumption codified in former Civil Code section 4800.1 (Fam.Code, § 2581), and the general common law presumption in favor of title, codified in section 662. Therefore, absent a contrary statute, and unless ownership interests are otherwise established by sufficient proof, record title is usually determinative of characterization." *Haines*, *supra*, 33 Cal.App.4th at p. 291, citing (*In re Marriage of Lucas* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 808, 813.

Frankie argues that because "all property" includes titled and untitled property, both kinds of property are presumed to be community property. Randy does not disagree with this analysis so far as it goes. It is upon Frankie's assertion that "title in either party's name is irrelevant" that Randy and Frankie part company.

"The general presumption of community property can be altered by agreement of the spouses. For example, spouses can indicate their intent with respect to the character of the property initially by specifying the form of title in which it is held, or spouses can later transmute the character of the property as between each other." *Haines, supra,* 33 Cal.App.4th at p. 291. "[A]bsent a contrary statute, and unless ownership interests are otherwise established by sufficient proof, record title is usually determinative of characterization." *Id.* This common law presumption is codified in Evidence Code §662. *Id.*

When a spouse has met the burden of proof necessary to raise the presumption of title, the form of title prevails over the general community property presumption. Here taking title in Randy's name was done solely by Frankie to accomplish what he alone intended to do.

2. <u>Both Family Code section 2581 and Evidence Code 662</u> apply in marital property disputes.

Family Code section 2581 declares that property held in any joint form

of title is presumed to be community property. Frankie argues that this statute was enacted in support of the community property presumption. He seems to argue that because there is no similarly specific statute for separately-titled property, no presumption applies when marital property is titled in the name of one spouse.

A close reading of the *Lucas* opinion proves Frankie's analysis to be incorrect. Section 2581 was not enacted in support of the community property presumption except insofar as it defaults to a finding of community property when title is jointly held. It was enacted to assist in application of Evidence Code section 662.

The presumption arising from the form of title created problems upon divorce or separation when title to the parties' residence was held in common law forms of joint title having both separate and community components. *In re Marriage of Lucas* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 808, 813 (*Lucas*). Courts were finding that the interests were as evidenced by the form of title. When there were both separate and community contributions to acquiring the property, the decisions were inconsistent regarding how to determine the proportionate interests. *Id.*

The Supreme Court in *Lucas* observed that Civil Code section 5110, the precursor to section 2581 was enacted to "change the presumptive form of ownership to that more closely matching the intent and assumptions of most spouses who acquire and hold their [property] in joint tenancy." *Lucas, supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 813. "There is no indication that the Legislature intended in any way to change the rules regarding the strength and type of evidence necessary to overcome the presumption arising from the form of title." *Id*.

Both the both Family Code section 2581 and Evidence Code 662 apply to characterize property in marital property disputes.

3. The Valli Court of Appeal properly applied a title analysis in finding that the life insurance policy is Randy's separate property.

Frankie argues that Valli should be reversed and Brooks should be

disapproved because the decisions were based on a "straight presumption of title analysis." If there is confusion here, it is Frankie's confusion brought on by Frankie's distorted perception of what a "straight presumption of title analysis" is under the rationale of *Lucas* as applied in *Brooks* and now in *Valli*.

The Court of Appeal in *Valli* properly began with the presumption that the policy was owned by the community but ultimately determined that, <u>based</u> on all of the evidence at trial, both testimony and title, Randy had met her burden to show that the presumption of title should apply and that Frankie had not met his burden to rebut it.

Both the general community property presumption of Family Code section 760 and the form of title presumption of Evidence Code section 662 are presumptions affecting the burden of proof. Evid Code § 662; *Haines, supra,* 33 Cal.App.4th at p. 290. The effect of a presumption affecting the burden of proof is to impose upon the party against whom it operates the burden of proof as to the nonexistence of the presumed fact. Evid. Code section 606. Evidence Code section 550 and the comments thereto explain how the burden of proof affects the burden of producing evidence. Section 550: provides: "(a) The burden of producing evidence as to a particular fact is on the party against whom a finding on that fact would be required in the absence of further evidence. ¶ (b) The burden of producing evidence as to a particular fact is initially on the party with the burden of proof as to that fact."

At the outset of the case, the burden of producing evidence typically will coincide with the burden of proof. [7 Cal.L.Rev.Comm. Reports 1 (1965)]. However, during the course of the trial, the burden may shift from one party to another, irrespective of the incidence of the burden of proof. *Id.*

The burden of proof of a separate property interest remains the same throughout the proceeding. It is on the challenger to community property characterization, in this case Randy. *In Re Marriage of Ettefagh* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 1578 (*Ettefagh*). However, the burden of producing evidence can shift back and forth between the parties. Introduction of bare documentary evidence of separate title might not alone be enough to rebut the community

property presumption. Historical precedents establish that evidence of the form of title is not conclusive in a marital property dispute. Gudelj v. Gudelj (1953) 41 Cal.2d 202, 212; In re Marriage of Aufmuth (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 446, 454-455. Here, Randy went far beyond the evidence of separate title. She presented evidence that Frankie, after consulting with two advisors, decided to purchase a life insurance policy for Randy. The fact that Frankie alone caused both legal and beneficial title to be placed in Randy's name alone, and the fact that Frankie relinquished all indicia of an ownership interest at inception, confirmed his decision and intention. Randy did not participate in the purchase, the title decision, the beneficiary designation, or the consultation with Frankie's advisors.

To raise at least an inference that the property is not community property, the proponent of separate title must also introduce some evidence that the other spouse knew how title was being taken and acquiesced. *Lucas*, 27 Cal.3d at pp 814-815; *Brooks*, *supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th at p. 86. "The affirmative act [by the parties] of specifying a form of ownership in the conveyance removes property acquired during marriage from the general presumption. *Brooks*, *supra*, at p. 86. Agreement is not presumed merely from proof of title. It must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. The evidence in *Valli* not only showed Frankie's agreement to Randy being made sole owner and beneficiary of the policy, Frankie testified that he "caused" the policy to be purchased and put it in Randy's name. Slip op. at p. 7.

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